

# Journal of Visualized Experiments

## Combining in ovo electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of Six1-Six2-Six4 genes in cephalic neural crest for head development --Manuscript Draft--

<b>Manuscript Number:</b>	JoVE54180R5
<b>Full Title:</b>	Combining in ovo electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of Six1-Six2-Six4 genes in cephalic neural crest for head development
<b>Article Type:</b>	Invited Methods Article - JoVE Produced Video
<b>Keywords:</b>	neural crest; electroporation; xenotransplantation; avian embryos; RNAi; triple silencing; craniofacial development; brain patterning
<b>Manuscript Classifications:</b>	1.13.350.150: Chick Embryo; 1.16.627: Neural Crest; 1.8.186.211.730: Prosencephalon; 1.8.612: Neural Pathways; 3.16.131.621.207: Craniofacial Abnormalities; 5.5.301.500: Electroporation; 8.1.158.273.200: Developmental Biology
<b>Corresponding Author:</b>	Sophie Creuzet Institute of Neurosciences Paris-Saclay Gif-sur-Yvette, Ile de France FRANCE
<b>Corresponding Author Secondary Information:</b>	
<b>Corresponding Author E-Mail:</b>	sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr;sophie.creuzet@college-de-france.fr
<b>Corresponding Author's Institution:</b>	Institute of Neurosciences Paris-Saclay
<b>Corresponding Author's Secondary Institution:</b>	
<b>First Author:</b>	Ricardo Castilho GARCEZ, Associate Professor
<b>First Author Secondary Information:</b>	
<b>Other Authors:</b>	Ricardo Castilho GARCEZ, Associate Professor Zuzana VAVRUSOVA Brigitte BLANC
<b>Order of Authors Secondary Information:</b>	
<b>Abstract:</b>	Embryonic development is a highly complex process, which depends on multistep interplays between cell lineages over a prolonged period of time. Therefore, investigation in this field requires a powerful and refined experimental strategy, which allows cells under scrutiny to be unequivocally labeled and recognized at any state of differentiation, and allows gene manipulation to be restricted to the same cell population, selectively. The experimental combination of xenografts between quail and chick embryos associated with in ovo electroporation perfectly fulfills this requirement and offers a unique strategy to unveil epistatic relationships within gene regulatory networks operating in embryonic cell populations, and to unmask functional redundancy through multiple silencing and rescue. Here, we describe how we used these techniques to uncover the complementary roles exerted by Six genes in the cephalic neural crest for vertebrate encephalogenesis. Functional assays based on stage- and tissue-specific RNAi strategy reveal that the selective silencing of each gene triggers partial and localized defects of facial skeletal development. Similarly, the development of cephalic vesicles are differently affected depending on the Six gene knocked-down, varying from the agenesis of choroid plexuses, to a severe alobar holoprosencephaly. Hence, the triple silencing results in anencephaly and prevents development of facial structures. This indicates that the three Six genes cooperate in the control of head skeletogenesis and brain morphogenesis.
<b>Author Comments:</b>	Dr. Sophie Creuzet Neuro-PSI / Institut des Neurosciences Paris-Saclay CNRS - UMR-9197

Equipe : Neural Crest: Development & Evolution  
avenue de la Terrasse  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette. France  
email: sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr  
tel: 33 1 69 82 41 61  
fax: 33 1 69 82 41 32  
[http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil\\_09.html](http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil_09.html)

Gif-sur-Yvette, July, 10th, 2016

Jaydev Upponi  
Science Editor  
JoVE  
One Alewife Center, Suite 200  
Cambridge, MA 02140

Dear Editor,

We are sending you herewith the revised version of our manuscript entitled "Combining in ovo electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of Six1, Six2, Six4 genes in cephalic neural crest for head development".

The present article describes how we combine xenograft between avian embryos and in ovo electroporation for multiple gene silencing and rescue, to uncover the complementary roles exerted by Six genes in the cephalic neural crest cells for vertebrate encephalogenesis.

Here is the 'point by point' list of changes addressed in the present manuscript.

Hoping the article in the present format will be suitable for publication in JoVE.

Sincerely yours,

Dr. Sophie Creuzet  
Principal investigator at CNRS  
Group leader Neural Crest: Development & Evolution

Editorial comments:

\* NOTE: Please download this version of the Microsoft word document (File name: 54180\_R3\_050316) for any subsequent changes. Please keep in mind that some editorial changes have been made prior to peer review pro

\*Please keep the editorial comments from your previous revisions in mind as you revise your manuscript to address peer review comments. For instance, if formatting or other changes were made, commercial language was removed, etc., please maintain these overall manuscript changes.

\*Formatting:

-Please include a space between 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.

-Please include spaces between all numbers and units.

-Please use the correct formatting for the materials table, and please include company and catalog number for all items.

\*Grammar:

-Please copyedit the manuscript for numerous grammatical errors. Such editing should be performed by a native English speaker and is required prior to acceptance.

-Line 56 - "combine xenograft between"

-Line 72 - "on stage- and tissue-specific RNAi strategy"

-Line 74 - "knocked-down"

-Avoid the term "perfectly" to describe these techniques, as this is not an objective assessment.

-1.3.1 - "made up with glass"

-1.3.2 - "microscapel"

-2.1.4 - "so that as the blastoderm"

-2.2 note, 2.2.1 - "Sequences" aren't dispersed or transferred, but nucleic acid molecules or nucleic acids are.

-2.2.5 - "blow" - do you mean "inject"? If mouth pipetting is used, this should be specified.

-2.2.11 note - What does "it" refer to?

-2.3.5 - "the heterospecific transfected"

-Line 343 - "well tractable"

-Line 349 - "negative charged"

-Line 350 - "towards cathode"

-The discussion is difficult to understand due to numerous errors.

\*Additional detail is required:

-Is a stereomicroscope used for any of these procedures? Please specify if so.

-1.3.1 - Please clarify "under the limit of capillarity." How is the tip stretched?

-2.1.3 - How is a hole made in the egg?

-2.1.5 - Where is the opening made? If this is the opening referred to in 2.1.4, this detail should be found in 2.1.4.

-2.3.4 - Please clarify "Cut out transversely".

-2.3.6 - What is "a flexible plastic pipe"? Are inhaling and blowing done by mouth?

\*Results: Please include scale bars. There are none visible. Panels M, O & Q should have their own scale bars. What staining is shown in M, O, Q?

\*Discussion: Please discuss any modifications/troubleshooting that can be performed as well as the future applications of the protocol.

\*If your figures and tables are original and not published previously, please ignore this comment. For figures and tables that have been published before, please include phrases such as "Re-print with permission from (reference#)" or "Modified from.." etc. And please send a copy of the re-print permission for JoVE's record keeping purposes.

\*JoVE reference format requires that DOIs are included, when available, for all references listed in the article. This is helpful for readers to locate the included references and obtain more information. Please note that often DOIs are not listed with PubMed abstracts and as such, may not be properly included when citing directly from PubMed. In these cases, please manually include DOIs in reference information.

\*IMP: Please copyedit the entire manuscript for any grammatical errors you may find. The text should be in American-English only. This editing should be performed by a native English speaker (or professional copyediting services) and is essential for clarity of the protocol and the manuscript. Please thoroughly review the language and grammar prior to resubmission. Your JoVE editor will not copy-edit your manuscript and any errors in your submitted revision may be present in the published version.

\*NOTE: Please include a line-by-line response letter to the editorial and reviewer comments along with the resubmission.

Reviewers' comments:

Reviewer #1:

Manuscript Summary:

In this paper, authors combine hetero-specific tissue grafting and electroporation in chicken embryo to evaluate the roles of six genes in head development. The idea is well conceived and the technique will be very useful in a variety of experiments using chicken embryo as a model. A clearly and vividly illustrated video procedure will be useful to many who use chicken embryo as an experimental model, and encourage young students to get interested into developmental biology.

Major Concerns:

N/A

Minor Concerns:

N/A

Additional Comments to Authors:

N/A

	<p>Reviewer #2:</p> <p>Manuscript Summary: The manuscript well explain the need of cell labeling, and up- and down regulation of the gene of interest, and show the xenografts transplantation between quail and chick embryos, and up- and down-regulation of Six genes in the cephalic neural crest cells. By this method, the authors could show hierarchy among Hoxa2, Noggin and Six genes by single and total silencing Six1, Six2 and Six4 genes, and Noggin genes by their dsRNA. The method is very useful for the researchers who use chick embryos.</p> <p>Major Concerns: N/A</p> <p>Minor Concerns: N/A</p> <p>Additional Comments to Authors: N/A</p> <p>Reviewer #3:</p> <p>Manuscript Summary: The protocol is nicely described and may have some importance for other labs (although electroporation has been described in JOVE several times previously, but not combined with grafting).</p> <p>Major Concerns: -The section of REPRESENTATIVE RESULTS should be modified, as the 2 first paragraphs are not relevant to the described protocol and representative results, and only the last paragraph discusses the representative results. The first paragraphs are more relevant to the Introduction. -The first parts of the current Introduction are too general and long and and may be edited to become more focused to the relevant published method. -The Discussion should discuss the prones and cones of the current method as compared to bilateral electroporation of NCCs in an embryo without grafting the tissue to another, as in such a case the manipulated NCCs will also invade a non-electroporated head tissue. Also, in my view a unilateral electroporation will be more informative with the grafting method since the non-manipulated side of the grafted tissue can serve as an internal control for grafting effects versus electroporation effects. This should be also discussed.</p> <p>Minor Concerns: 1 details regarding the preparation or purchase of the triplet electrode system is needed.</p> <p>Additional Comments to Authors: N/A</p>
<b>Additional Information:</b>	
<b>Question</b>	<b>Response</b>
If this article needs to be "in-press" by a certain date to satisfy grant requirements, please indicate the date below and explain in your cover letter.	

**TITLE:**

**Combining *in ovo* electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of *Six1-Six2-Six4* genes in cephalic neural crest for head development**

**AUTHORS:**

GARCEZ, Ricardo C. <sup>1,2,†</sup>, VAVRUSOVA, Zuzana <sup>1,†</sup>, BLANC, Brigitte <sup>1</sup>, and CREUZET, Sophie E. <sup>1</sup>

**AUTHOR AFFILIATION:**

Garcez, Ricardo C. <sup>1,2,†</sup>,  
<sup>1</sup> Neuro-PSI - CNRS - UMR9197  
Avenue de la Terrasse,  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France

<sup>2</sup> Present address: Centro de Ciências Biológicas,  
Universidade Federal de Santa  
Catarina, Florianópolis,  
SC 88040-900, Brasil  
[ricardo.garcez@ufsc.br](mailto:ricardo.garcez@ufsc.br)

Vavrusova, Zuzana <sup>1,†</sup>,  
<sup>1</sup> Neuro-PSI - CNRS - UMR9197  
Avenue de la Terrasse,  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France  
[zuzana.szolgayova@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr](mailto:zuzana.szolgayova@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr)

Blanc, Brigitte <sup>1</sup>,  
<sup>1</sup> Neuro-PSI - CNRS - UMR9197  
Avenue de la Terrasse,  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France  
[brigitte.blanc@etu.univ-lyon1.fr](mailto:brigitte.blanc@etu.univ-lyon1.fr)

Creuzet, Sophie E. <sup>1</sup>  
<sup>1</sup> Neuro-PSI - CNRS - UMR9197  
Avenue de la Terrasse,  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France  
[sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr](mailto:sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr)

<sup>†</sup> These two authors have equally contributed

**CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:**

Creuzet, Sophie E. <sup>1</sup>  
<sup>1</sup> Neuro-PSI - CNRS - UMR9197  
Avenue de la Terrasse,  
91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France  
Tel: 33 1 69 82 41 33 /Fax: 33 1 69 82 41 32  
[sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr](mailto:sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr)

**KEYWORDS:**

Neural crest; electroporation; xenotransplantation; avian embryos; RNAi; triple silencing; craniofacial development; brain patterning

**SHORT ABSTRACT:**

To uncover the complementary roles played by three members of the *Six* gene family in cephalic neural crest cells during vertebrate encephalogenesis, xenograft between avian embryos and *in ovo* electroporation for multiple gene silencing and rescue were combined.

**LONG ABSTRACT:**

Embryonic development depends on multiple interactions among cell lineages over a prolonged period of time. Therefore, investigation in this field requires a powerful and refined experimental strategy, which allows 1) cells under scrutiny to be unequivocally labeled and recognized at any state of differentiation and 2) gene manipulation to be selectively restricted to the same cell population. The experimental combination of xenografts between quail and chick embryos associated with *in ovo* electroporation perfectly fulfills these requirements and offers a unique strategy to unveil epistatic relationships within gene regulatory networks operating in embryonic cell populations, and to unmask functional redundancy through multiple silencing and rescue. We herein report the use of this strategy to elucidate the complementary roles played by three members of the *Six* gene family in cephalic neural crest (NC) cells during vertebrate encephalogenesis. Functional assays based on stage- and tissue-specific RNAi reveal that the selective silencing of each gene triggers partial and localized defects of facial skeletal development. Similarly, the development of cephalic vesicles are differently affected, depending on the *Six* gene knockdown, varying from the agenesis of choroid plexuses to severe alobar holoprosencephaly. Hence, the triple silencing results in anencephaly and prevents development of facial structures. This indicates that the three *Six* genes cooperate in the control of head skeletogenesis and brain morphogenesis.

**INTRODUCTION:**

A recurrent problem in developmental studies involves accurately characterizing a discrete cell population and its interactions with the neighboring tissues. Identifying the fate of cells in complex morphogenetic processes requires a reliable and refined technique for long-term cell lineage tracing. “Mosaicism”, when selectively introduced into a developing organism, can be used for the systematic exploration of cell fate. In pioneering experiments performed in lower vertebrates, labeling a subset of embryonic cells was essentially based on combination two genetically, or morphologically, different cell types in a same individual in order to characterize cell lineages. These attempts exploited intrinsic cell markers, cell size, vital dye, or radioactive, labeling. However, such marking technique is limited by instability and imprecision; therefore, these methods failed to appropriately track the dispersal of embryonic cells and to determine their long-term fate.

In higher vertebrates, avian is a popular system for descriptive morphogenesis by its accessibility throughout ontogenesis. As a model, the chick embryo was introduced to biological investigations by Aristotle, who posited the principles for systematic and comprehensive studies of living beings. Over centuries, avian development has inspired morphologists and embryologists with paradigms and major conceptual frameworks related to the notion of germ layers<sup>1,2,3</sup>, which, later on, paved the way for comparative embryology<sup>4</sup>. In the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, the German anatomist Wilhelm His first described the neural crest (NC) in chick embryo as a transient structure that delaminates from the neural

tube (NT) and subsequently coalesces to form the dorsal root ganglia <sup>5</sup>. Aside from its participation to the formation of the peripheral nervous system, the NC turned out to be essential for many aspects of embryonic development and for the evolution of the vertebrate phylum based on the phylogenetic implications of its derivatives <sup>6</sup>. The breakthrough came in the late 1960s when Nicole Le Douarin devised the quail-chick chimera system <sup>7</sup>. Based on species-specific heritable cellular features, this technique relies on the differential staining of the nucleus of quail and chick cells, marking it possible to discriminate the respective contribution of heterospecific primordia to the ontogenesis of chimeric individuals. As a consequence of marker stability and cellular resolution, this technique enables to trace the fate of embryonic cells over a prolonged period of time, extending from morphogenesis to organogenesis, irrespective of their state of differentiation <sup>8</sup>. This method turned out to be a formidable approach to track the fate of discrete migratory cell population and, along their path, perceive their interactions with the environment, finally elucidating the hierarchical interactions that control tissue induction and specification <sup>9</sup>.

In addition to perfectly fulfilling the requirement for descriptive investigations, the avian embryo is also a resourceful support for experimentation. Fate-mapping studies gained from quail-chick chimeras have served as standards for all ensuing molecular investigations of regulatory networks governing embryogenesis. The strategy has allowed researchers to study the “right” genes inside the “right” cells that are signaling to each other in appropriately defined time windows. More recently, we devised a combination of cell tracking and gene expression manipulations that significantly increases the possibilities for developmental studies <sup>10, 11, 12, 13, 14</sup>. This strategy allows us to change the expression of candidate genes, as well as the cell type under scrutiny and to transplant it into a “wild-type environment”. Thus, it is now possible to determine the fate of such genetically manipulated cells and their morphogenetic impacts on neighboring unmanipulated tissues. The experimental combination of xenografts between quail and chick embryos associated with *in ovo* electroporation, as herein reported, has resulted in unravelling the role of three *Six* genes as molecular determinants of craniofacial and brain morphogenesis.

## **PROTOCOL:**

NOTE: In this paper, the experiments are performed on chick and quail embryos long before the development of nerve and connectivity.

### **1. 1) Avian models and respective timetables**

1. 1. 1) Select fast-growing strains for chick and quail in order to synchronize the early stages of development between donor and recipient embryos.

NOTE: JA657 strain chicks and Japanese gray-pigmented quails are particularly resistant and show a high rate of hatching, thus meeting this requirement.

1. 1. 2) Precisely stage chick and quail embryos according to developmental tables <sup>15, 16, 17</sup>.

NOTE: Chick and quail belong to the same taxonomic group and share a similar, but not identical, timetable early in development. During the early phases of development, specifically at neurula stage, embryos subjected to microsurgery are exactly staged by counting the number of somite pairs flanking the neural tube. Their developmental stage is then expressed as somite-stage (ss).

### **1. 2) Incubation**

1. 2. 1) Initiate embryonic development by incubating fertilized eggs in brooders.

1. 2. 2) Precisely control the onset of incubation using a programmer timer, especially for the early phases of development. Regulate both temperature ( $38 \pm 0.5$  °C) and humidity (45 %) throughout embryonic development up to embryonic day (E) 17. From this stage onwards, set the humidity around 75 % in order to facilitate hatching.

### **1. 3) Microsurgery Instruments**

1. 3. 1) Prepare micro scalpels made of glass from Pasteur pipettes. Stretch the pipette over the flame to shrink the pipette tip drawn out by hand until the disruption of capillary. Carry out this step rapidly to ensure that the tip is short (< 1 cm).

NOTE: Since glass does not retain embryonic material, the tip of the micro-scalpel produces very neat incisions and remains sharp over many operations. This type of micro scalpel is particularly suitable for ablations or transplantations involving very tiny NC cell territories<sup>10, 11, 13</sup>.

1. 3. 2) Alternatively, use a metal micro scalpel devised by honing steel needle on an Arkansas stone, or by sharpening tungsten wire by electrolysis in a 0.5M KOH solution. NOTE: These micro scalpels are more convenient for the excision of the neural tube or brain vesicles because they are extremely thin and robust<sup>18</sup>.

### **2. 1) Egg preparation**

2. 1. 1) Before the operation, incubate eggs in a brooder and maintain them in a horizontal position by a series of wired coils.

2. 1. 2) Use hollowed out slats to stably hold eggs, during and after operation, for reincubation of manipulated embryos until the stage required for analysis.

2. 1. 3) Discard a small quantity of albumen beforehand. To accomplish this, pierce the shell with the needle tip and use a syringe to pump out 1 to 2 ml of albumen at the pointed pole of the egg. Seal with wax or small piece of adhesive tape. Alternatively, perforate the air chamber with micro-tip scissors and turn the egg upside down so that the blastoderm lies away from the shell.

2. 1. 4) Make an opening in the shell using curved scissors without ripping embryos. This eggshell opening at the side has a diameter of approximately 1.5 cm.

### **2. 2) Bilateral electroporation for gene silencing and rescue in facial neural crest (FNC)**

NOTE: Use *in ovo* electroporation to bilaterally transfer exogenous nucleic acid sequences into living FNC cells. The triplex of electrodes generates a triangular electric field yielding the bilateral dispersion of the nucleic acid sequences<sup>10, 13</sup>.

NOTE : The manipulation of embryos must be performed with the aid of a stereomicroscope with variable magnification capacity of at least 10 to 40x.

2. 2. 1) Synthesize and purify nucleic acid sequences designed to either up- or downregulate gene activity<sup>19</sup>.

2. 2. 2) Use constructs at the range of concentration to achieve gain-of-function<sup>12, 13</sup>. For either plasmid or retroviral constructs set the concentration between 1-4 µg/µl in Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Use double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) at a working concentration



varying between 200 ng/μl and 500 ng/μl in PBS to trigger gene silencing and loss-of-function<sup>12, 13, 19</sup>.

2. 2. 3) Prepare an approximate volume of 0.1 μl of the working solution per embryo for the experiment.

2. 2. 4) Contrast the nucleic acid solution with 0.001 % Fast Green FCF (in PBS) (Figure 1A-B) in order to visualize the tip of the micropipette and precisely control the injection.

2. 2. 5) Carefully blow the nucleic acid solution in the lumen of the neural tube using a glass drawn-out pipette.

2. 2. 6) Use a triplex electrode to achieve a bilateral and simultaneous transfection of the neural fold (NF). Set the two positive electrodes apart from each other with a gap of 5 mm on the vitelline membrane. Place the negative electrode in front of the anterior neural ridge, at a distance of 6 mm from the two positive electrodes<sup>10, 13</sup> (Figure 1C).

2. 2. 7) Set the electrodes in contact to the surface of the extra-embryonic ectoderm using a 3D-micromanipulator with respect to the targeted tissue.

2. 2. 8) Ensure a homogeneous dispersion of electrical pulses by damping the tip of the triple electrodes and embryonic tissues with PBS supplemented with antibiotics.

2. 2. 9) Connect the triple electrode system to a square pulse-delivering generator (electroporator).

2. 2. 10) Preset the electroporator with the following parameters: iterative square pulses of 25V of intensity with a respective duration of 50ms and a resting interval of 500 ms.

2. 2. 11) Trigger a transient permeabilization of the cell membrane by an electrical impulse. NOTE: First devised *in vitro*, electroporation was successfully adapted to *in vivo* transfection in the mid-1990s by turning a unique pulse of high voltage —with an exponential decay— into a series of square low voltage iterative pulses<sup>20, 21</sup>.

### **2. 3) Grafting procedure**

NOTE: Perform FNC cell transplantation before the onset of their migration.

2. 3. 1) Contrast the embryonic structures from the yolk by injecting a solution of Indian ink diluted 1:20 in PBS in an approximative volume of 0.2ml, supplemented with antibiotics (penicillin-streptomycin diluted 1:100 in PBS), under the blastoderm in the donor embryo (Figure 1D-E).

2. 3. 2) Incise the vitelline membrane with a micro scalpel in order to access the embryonic region elected for microsurgery (Figure 1F).

2. 3. 3) Perform a longitudinal slit through the ectoderm along the chosen level of the NF with a micro scalpel (Figure 1G), on both sides (Figure 1H).

2. 3. 4) Make a small transversal cut in the dorsal edges of neural tube to delineate the antero-posterior limits of the excised fragment with the micro scalpel (Figure 1I), to isolate the NC domain subjected to transplantation from the neural primordium (Figure 1J).

2. 3. 5) Excise the endogenous NC territory in the chick recipient embryo with a micro scalpel, according to the procedure described above (from step 2.3.1 to 2.3.4), in order to remove the endogenous FNC and clear the site of transplantation prior to the implantation of the heterospecific transfected.

2. 3. 6) Transfer the excised NF fragment from the host to the recipient embryo through a glass micropipette with a flexible plastic pipe put on the larger tip of the micropipette to precisely control FNC fragment intake and release by inhaling and blowing, respectively.

2. 3. 7) Carefully lay the exogenous NC on the embryo with the micropipette. Then, gently manipulate it with a micro scalpel to implant in the elected site.

2. 3. 8) Seal the shell with a piece of adhesive tape and reincubate the recipient embryo at 38°C in the same position (Figure 1K).

2. 3. 9) Harvest and fix embryos at E5 and E8 to analyze the consequence of gene manipulation on brain development, and on craniofacial morphogenesis<sup>13</sup>, respectively.

#### REPRESENTATIVE RESULTS:

The combination of *in ovo* bilateral electroporation and heterospecific grafting between quail and chick embryos has been previously used to explore the role of *Hox* genes expression in FNC cells<sup>10</sup>. When the expression of *Hoxa2* is forced by electroporation of retroviral constructs in the FNC cells before the onset of migration, the *Hoxa2*-transfected FNC cells then migrate and differentiate within a *Hox*-negative environment. In these experiments, *Hoxa2* expression abolished the capacity of the FNC to form the facial skeleton.

Similar in principle, experiments using *Hoxa3* and *Hoxb4* as transgenes partly prevent lower and upper face development, respectively, but severely impact the development of facial skeleton. In addition to the inhibition of the skeletogenesis, cell lineage in chimeras revealed that the ectopic expression of *Hoxa3* also selectively hampered FNC cell differentiation into pericytes. As a result, embryos died prematurely from haemorrhages due to the absence of musculo-connective walls in vessel tunicae. In contrast, neither neural nor pigment NC derivatives seemed to be affected by the translocation of *Hox* expression at their level<sup>10</sup>. In addition, aside from its structural role in craniofacial formation, our investigations have shown that the FNC also plays a potent morphogenetic “paracrine” role in the development of brain and sense organs. Parts of the brain that mostly depend on the regulatory activity of the FNC are those that have evolved more recently, *i.e.*, the telencephalon and the dorsal part of di- and mesencephalon<sup>12</sup>.

More recently, we have investigated the molecular determinants of FNC-derived skeletogenesis and the mechanisms whereby FNC conveys its trophic effect on the developing brain. By associating *in ovo* electroporation and heterospecific grafting of FNC, we have shown that translocation of *Hoxa2* in FNC interferes with the activity *Six1*, *Six2* and *Six4* expressed in FNC cells<sup>13</sup>. We have shown that translocation of *Hoxa2* in FNC results in the global reduction of *Six1*, *Six2*, and *Six4*. These three *Six* family member genes are specifically expressed in FNC cells at neurula stage and in early emigrating NC cells,

according to a similar pattern of activation. However, when performed in FNC cells selectively, the respective silencing of each of these genes produces different defects. Despite sharing up to 75% identity, the sequences which encoding *Six1*, *Six2*, and *Six4* used as template for dsRNA synthesis generate different phenotypes. For skeletal development, dsRNA targeting *Six2* and *Six4* causes very severe defects, including diverse and complementary truncation of maxillo-mandibular skeleton, while *Six1* induces a global reduction in size without affecting the skeletal patterning. Similarly, silencing of *Six* genes selectively generates diverse brain defects, and dsRNA targeting *Six1* causes defects in brain morphology strikingly distinct from those induced by dsRNA against either *Six2* or *Six4* (Fig. 1L-S), ranging from plexus agenesis to mild or severe holoprosencephaly. Ultimately, the triple silencing of *Six1-2-4* causes extended anencephaly.

Therefore, these experiments shed light on the requirement of these genes for craniofacial and cerebral morphogenesis. We performed additional experiments to rescue the triple silencing of *Six1-Six2-Six4*, in order to determine if the activity of *Noggin* is downstream of *Six* genes activity. According to the same paradigm, the triple silencing was performed in combination with the upregulation of *Noggin*. We then observed the complete restoration of the skeletal nasofrontal and maxillo-mandibular structures. Taken together, these results showed that the control of head morphogenesis, through the cooperation of *Six* genes, is mediated by *Noggin* activity<sup>13</sup>.

#### FIGURE LEGEND:

**Figure 1: *In ovo* electroporation and surgical procedure.** (A-B) Injection of the plasmid, contrasted with Fast Green solution, in the neural groove. (C) Setting of the triple electrode system at the surface of quail embryo. (D,E) India ink is injected under the blastoderm. (F-J) Surgical procedure consists of (F) a partial removal of the vitelline membrane and (G) microdissection of the NF on the right-hand side, then (H) on the left-hand side. The bilateral stands of NF are (I) separated from the more caudal level and (J) isolated from the rest of the embryo before transplantation into the recipient embryo. (K) Two hours after grafting the transfected NF, FNC cells start to exhibit GFP activity and migrate from the site of implantation. (L-S) Brain phenotypes in (L-M) control, (N-O) *Six1*-, (O-Q) *Six4*-silenced embryos. (R-S) Triple silencing of *Six1/Six2/Six4* causes anencephaly. (K-S), as modified from<sup>13</sup>. Cav, cavum pellucidum; Lat v, lateral ventricle; Pal, pallium; Se, septum pellucidum; Tha, thalamus; 3<sup>rd</sup> v, third ventricle. Scale bars in A and L-Q represent 200  $\mu$ m and 1 mm, respectively.

#### DISCUSSION:

By associating two embryological strategies, gene manipulation by *in ovo* electroporation plus heterospecific combinations by quail-chick transplantations, we have elucidated the role of some molecular determinants operating in FNC cells, which govern vertebrate encephalogenesis.

The combinatorial expression of *Hox* genes is an evolutionarily ancient program underlying body axis patterning in amniotes and bilateria. However, in the head, the NC, a vertebrate innovation that contributes to evolutionarily novel skeletal and neural features, develops as a structure free of *Hox*-gene expression<sup>22, 10, 23</sup>. The emergence of FNC-derived structures has coincided with evolution of the most rostral parts of the brain, and we have previously shown that the FNC exerts morphogenetic cell-autonomous control of the growth and patterning of the telencephalon and the dorsal part of the di- and mesencephalon, as well as and the sense organs<sup>11, 12</sup>.

To explore these mechanisms in depth, the conventional transgenic models are unsuitable<sup>24</sup>. Chick embryo is a very traceable model when combining both embryological and gene manipulations. The avian embryo with a range of developmental stages allows transfection to be performed in stage-, space-, and tissue-specific manner. Electroporation allows us combine molecular approaches with classical embryonic tissue manipulations and use embryonic chimeras for functional molecular studies.

When placed in a polarized electrical field, nucleic acids, globally negative charged molecules, are displaced towards cathode. The transfer of foreign nucleic acid into cells is controlled by electric impulse, which directs the nucleic acid towards cathode through cells situated in between (Fig. 1B-C). In this context, the exogenous nucleic acid sequences enter the targeted cells and become trapped in the cytoplasm as the cell membrane recovers its integrity. This results in an instantaneous and highly efficient penetration of the vector into the cells.

At neurula stage, the FNC forms a NF bulge that accompanies the rise of the lateral aspects of the neural plate, while the edges of the neuroepithelium come together and form the neural tube. Because of epithelio-mesenchymal transition (EMT), FNC cells can only be microscopically manipulated before they delaminate, become mesenchymal and migrate. The ideal timing for heterospecific exchanges is therefore synchronized with the neurulation, and the neural crest (NC) level subjected to replacement must be the last formed. NC formation and delamination are first initiated at cephalic level at 5-6 ss<sup>25</sup> and then progressively reach the more caudal levels up to E5 and E4.5 for chick and quail embryos, respectively<sup>26</sup>.

For electroporation, a problem arises from FNC cells that emanate from the strands of NF that merge along the dorsal midline before migrating bilaterally. As a consequence, the “control” and “experimental” sides receive a substantial contribution of transfected and untransfected cells, respectively, a phenomenon that could strongly bias the interpretation of resulting phenotypes. To circumvent this limitation, a bilateral transfection of both neural folds should be carried out simultaneously once by adding a third electrode: one anode, rostral, and two cathodes, lateral. Using such triplex electrode remarkably increases the efficacy and reliability of CNC cell transfection. Moreover, this increase in efficiency can be accompanied by electroporation of NF adjacent tissues. Combining heterospecific grafting with electroporation, however, guarantees tissue specificity of transgenesis.

If necessary, some modifications of this protocol can be made. Difficulty in positioning electrodes, or conducting electroporation *in ovo*, can be overcome by removing the embryo and performing electroporation in petri dishes. If the operator has little experience with *in vivo* electroporation, it is recommended that preliminary tests be carried out with dextran-FITC (or equivalent). Thus, the researcher will be able to immediately determine if the site being electroporated is correct.

Most commonly, this kind of experiment can result in injury to the embryo as a result of poor positioning of electrodes. As long as tissue to be transplanted is not compromised, this should pose no problem, but caution should always be taken. Moreover, in some cases, fungal contamination can occur; therefore, it is recommended that antifungals, such as Amphotericin B (Gibco, cat. no. 15.290.018), are used in PBS.

By using this approach, we have previously shown that translocation of *Hoxa2* in FNC results in the global inhibition of *Six1*, *Six2* and *Six4* expressed in FNC. Although these genes exhibit similar pattern of activity in premigratory and migrating FNC cells, the outcome of their selective silencing is variable and produces partial and complementary truncation of facial and brain development. These experiments shed light on the requirement of these genes for craniofacial and cerebral morphogenesis. We show that a “*Six* code” is central to the spatial layout of CNC-derived skeletogenesis and is required to achieve proper brain development. Therefore, while the “*Hox* code” rules the patterning of skeletal structures in the pharynx and the trunk, craniofacial skeletogenesis, which normally develops as a *Hox*-free domain, follows a “*Six* code” for its growth and patterning.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS :

The authors thank Katherine C. Woronowicz for critical Reading of the manuscript. Authors' work is supported by the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, the Association de la Recherche sur le Cancer (grant n°3929), the Association Française du Syndrome de Rett (AFSR 2012-05), The Fondation de la Recherche Médicale (Visualsystem).

## DISCLOSURES:

Authors declare no competing financial interests.

## REFERENCES:

1. Wolff C.F. (1759). *Theoria generationis*. Doctoral dissertation. Halle, Hendel.
2. Wolff C.F. (1769). *De formatione intestinorum*. *Novi commentarii Academiae scientiarum imperialis Petropolitanae*, 13, 478-530.
3. Pander, C. (1817). *Historiam metamorphoseos quam ovum incubatum prioribus quinque diebus subit*. Wirceburgi. FE Nitribitt. 69 p.
4. Baer, von, K.E. (1828). *Über die Entwicklungsgeschichte der Thiere*. Königsberg: Bornträger.
5. His, W. *Untersuchungen über die erste Anlage des Wirbeltierleibes*. Die erste Entwicklung des Hühnchens im Ei. Leipzig: FCW Vogel. doi: 10.5962/bhl.title.15288 (1868).
6. Hall, B. K. (2000). The neural crest as a fourth germ layer and vertebrate as quadroblastic not triploblastic. *Evol. & Dev.* **2**, 3-5. doi: PMID: 11256415 (2000).
7. Le Douarin, N. M. Particularités du noyau interphasique chez la caille japonaise (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). Utilisation de ces particularités comme “marquage biologique” dans les recherches sur les interactions tissulaires et les migrations cellulaires au cours de l'ontogenèse. *Bull. Biol. Fr. Belg.* **103**, 435–452. PMID: 4191116 (1969).
8. Le Douarin, N. M. A biological cell labelling technique and its use in experimental embryology. *Dev. Biol.*, **30**, 217–222. PMID: 4121410 (1973).
9. Le Douarin, N. M., and Kalcheim C. *The Neural Crest*, Second edition, Cambridge University Press. ISBN : 0521620104 (1999).
10. Creuzet S., Couly G., Vincent C. and Le Douarin N. M. Negative effect of Hox gene expression on the development of neural crest derived facial skeleton. *Development*, **129**, 4301-4313. doi: DEV2889 (2002).
11. Creuzet S., Schuler B., Couly G., and Le Douarin N. M. Reciprocal relationships between Fgf8 and neural crest cells in facial and forebrain development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **101**, 4843-4847. doi : 10.1073/pnas.0400869101. (2004).
12. Creuzet, S. E. Regulation of pre-otic brain development by the cephalic neural crest. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **106**, 15774-15779. doi : 10.1073/pnas.0906072106; (2009).

13. Garcez R. C., Le Douarin N. M., and Creuzet S. E. (2014). Combinatorial activity of Six1-2-4 genes in cephalic neural crest cells controls craniofacial and brain development. *Cell Mol. Life Sci*, **71**, 2149-2164. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1477-z. (2014).
14. Aguiar D.P., Sghari S., and Creuzet S.E. The facial neural crest controls fore- and midbrain patterning by regulating Foxg1 expression through Smad1 activity. *Development*, **141**, 2494-2505. doi: 10.1242/dev.101790. (2014).
15. Hamburger, V., and Hamilton, H.L. (1951). A series of normal stages in the development of chick embryo. *J. Morphol.* **88**, 49–92. doi:10.1002/jmor.1050880104 (1951).
16. Zacchei, A.M. (1961). Lo sviluppo embrionale della quaglia giapponese. *Archivi Anatomica* **66**, 36–62. PMID: 13787591 (1961).
17. Ainsworth, S.J., Stanley, R.L., and Evans, D.J. Developmental stages of the Japanese quail. *J. Anat.* **216**, 3-15. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2009.01173.x. (2009).
18. Le Douarin, N., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., Creuzet, S., and Teillet, M.-A. Quail-chick transplantations. *Methods Cell Biol.* **87**, 19-58. PMID: 18485290 (2008).
19. Pekarik, V., Bourikas, D., Miglino, N., Joset, P. and Stoeckli, E. (2003). Screening for gene function in chicken embryo using RNAi and electroporation. *Nature Biotech.* **21**, 93-96. doi:10.1038/n1396. (2003).
20. Muramatsu, T., Shibata, O., Ryoki, S., Ohmori, Y., and Okumura, J. (1997). Foreign gene expression in the mouse testis by localized in vivo gene transfer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **233**, 45-49. doi:10.1038/n1396 (1997).
21. Sakamoto, K., Nakamura, H., Takagi, M., Takeda, S., and Katsube, K. (1998). Ectopic expression of Lunatic Fringe leads to down-regulation of Serrate-1 in the developing chick neural tube; analysis using in ovo electroporation transfection technique. *FEBS Letters*, **426**, 337-341. doi: doi:10.1038/n1396 (1998).
22. Couly, G., Creuzet, S., Bennaceur, S., Vincent, C., and Le Douarin, N.M. Interactions between Hox-negative cephalic neural crest cells and the foregut endoderm in patterning the facial skeleton in the vertebrate head. *Development*, **129**, 1061-1073. doi: DEV2825. (2002).
23. Le Douarin N.M., and Creuzet S.E (2009). Craniofacial patterning. In *The Skeletal System. Cold Spring Harbor Lab Press*, **53**, 117-147. ISBN 978-087969825-6 (2009).
24. Barriga, E.H., Trainor, P.A., Bronner, M., and Mayor, R. Animal models for studying neural crest development: is the mouse different? *Development*, **142**, 1555-1560. doi: 10.1242/dev.121590. (2015).
25. Le Lièvre, C., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1975). Mesenchymal derivatives of the neural crest: analysis of chimaeric quail and chick embryos. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* **34**, 125–154. PMID: 1185098 (1975).
26. Catala, M., Ziller, C., Lapointe, F. and Le Douarin, N.M. The developmental potentials of the caudalmost part of the neural crest are restricted to melanocytes and glia. *Mech. Dev.* **95**, 77-87. doi:10.1016/S0925-4773(00)00349-X. (2000).





Name of Material/ Equipment	Company
Fertilized and incubated chicken/quail eggs	
Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) without Ca2+ and Mg2+	Gibco
dsRNA or plasmids previously purified	
Penicillin-streptomycin solution	Invitrogen
Fast green	Sigma-Aldrich
Indian ink	B&D
Transparent Scotch tape	3M
Stereomicroscope with swan-neck fiber optic illumination system	Leica
Stereomicroscope with swan-neck fiber optic illumination system	Olympus
4" curved scissor	Fine Science Tools
Glass pasteur pipettes	Fisher Scientific
Electroporation system	Harvard Apparatus
Egg incubator	Autoelex Co.,
Tungsten needles	Fine Science Tools
Arkansas stone	Sharpening Supplies
Steel needles	Milward Needles
Syringe and needle combination	BD
Triple electrode	Bex Co



Catalog Number	Comments/Description
10010031	
15140148	10,000 U/mL
F7258	
261194	
MZ 7.5	or equivalent
SZ	or equivalent
14.061-10	or equivalent
13.678-20D	
45-0052	BTX-ECM 830
JURAGON	or equivalent
10.130-10	
ARKSET	
	size/no. 10, or equivalent
309.587	3ml
LF 610	adapted



1 Alewife Center #200  
Cambridge, MA 02140  
tel. 617.945.9051  
www.jove.com

## ARTICLE AND VIDEO LICENSE AGREEMENT

Manuscript #:

Title of Article: Combining in ovo electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of Six124 genes

Author(s): R.C. GARCEZ, Z. SZOLGAYOVA, B. BLANC 1, and S.E. CREUZET

Item 1 (check one box): The Author elects to have the Materials be made available (as described at <http://www.jove.com/publish>) via: X Standard Access ☐ Open Access

Item 2 (check one box):

- ☒ X The Author is NOT a United States government employee.
- ☐ The Author is a United States government employee and the Materials were prepared in the course of his or her duties as a United States government employee.
- ☐ The Author is a United States government employee but the Materials were NOT prepared in the course of his or her duties as a United States government employee.

### ARTICLE AND VIDEO LICENSE AGREEMENT

1. **Defined Terms.** As used in this Article and Video License Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings: "**Agreement**" means this Article and Video License Agreement; "**Article**" means the article specified on the last page of this Agreement, including any associated materials such as texts, figures, tables, artwork, abstracts, or summaries contained therein; "**Author**" means the author who is a signatory to this Agreement; "**Collective Work**" means a work, such as a periodical issue, anthology or encyclopedia, in which the Materials in their entirety in unmodified form, along with a number of other contributions, constituting separate and independent works in themselves, are assembled into a collective whole; "**CRC License**" means the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-No Derivs 3.0 Unported Agreement, the terms and conditions of which can be found at: <http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/legalcode>; "**Derivative Work**" means a work based upon the Materials or upon the Materials and other pre-existing works, such as a translation, musical arrangement, dramatization, fictionalization, motion picture version, sound recording, art reproduction, abridgment, condensation, or any other form in which the Materials may be recast, transformed, or adapted; "**Institution**" means the institution, listed on the last page of this Agreement, by which the Author was employed at the time of the creation of the Materials; "**JoVE**" means MyJoVE Corporation, a Massachusetts corporation and the publisher of *The Journal of Visualized Experiments*; "**Materials**" means the Article and / or the Video; "**Parties**" means the Author and JoVE; "**Video**" means any video(s) made by the Author, alone or in conjunction with any other parties, or by JoVE or its affiliates or agents, individually or in collaboration with the Author or any other parties,

incorporating all or any portion of the Article, and in which the Author may or may not appear.

2. **Background.** The Author, who is the author of the Article, in order to ensure the dissemination and protection of the Article, desires to have the JoVE publish the Article and create and transmit videos based on the Article. In furtherance of such goals, the Parties desire to memorialize in this Agreement the respective rights of each Party in and to the Article and the Video.

3. **Grant of Rights in Article.** In consideration of JoVE agreeing to publish the Article, the Author hereby grants to JoVE, subject to Sections 4 and 7 below, the exclusive, royalty-free, perpetual (for the full term of copyright in the Article, including any extensions thereto) license (a) to publish, reproduce, distribute, display and store the Article in all forms, formats and media whether now known or hereafter developed (including without limitation in print, digital and electronic form) throughout the world, (b) to translate the Article into other languages, create adaptations, summaries or extracts of the Article or other Derivative Works (including, without limitation, the Video) or Collective Works based on all or any portion of the Article and exercise all of the rights set forth in (a) above in such translations, adaptations, summaries, extracts, Derivative Works or Collective Works and (c) to license others to do any or all of the above. The foregoing rights may be exercised in all media and formats, whether now known or hereafter devised, and include the right to make such modifications as are technically necessary to exercise the rights in other media and formats. If the "Open Access" box has been checked in Item 1 above, JoVE and the



## ARTICLE AND VIDEO LICENSE AGREEMENT

Author hereby grant to the public all such rights in the Article as provided in, but subject to all limitations and requirements set forth in, the CRC License.

4. Retention of Rights in Article. Notwithstanding the exclusive license granted to JoVE in **Section 3** above, the Author shall, with respect to the Article, retain the non-exclusive right to use all or part of the Article for the non-commercial purpose of giving lectures, presentations or teaching classes, and to post a copy of the Article on the Institution's website or the Author's personal website, in each case provided that a link to the Article on the JoVE website is provided and notice of JoVE's copyright in the Article is included. All non-copyright intellectual property rights in and to the Article, such as patent rights, shall remain with the Author.

5. Grant of Rights in Video – Standard Access. This **Section 5** applies if the "Standard Access" box has been checked in **Item 1** above or if no box has been checked in **Item 1** above. In consideration of JoVE agreeing to produce, display or otherwise assist with the Video, the Author hereby acknowledges and agrees that, Subject to **Section 7** below, JoVE is and shall be the sole and exclusive owner of all rights of any nature, including, without limitation, all copyrights, in and to the Video. To the extent that, by law, the Author is deemed, now or at any time in the future, to have any rights of any nature in or to the Video, the Author hereby disclaims all such rights and transfers all such rights to JoVE.

6. Grant of Rights in Video – Open Access. This **Section 6** applies only if the "Open Access" box has been checked in **Item 1** above. In consideration of JoVE agreeing to produce, display or otherwise assist with the Video, the Author hereby grants to JoVE, subject to **Section 7** below, the exclusive, royalty-free, perpetual (for the full term of copyright in the Article, including any extensions thereto) license (a) to publish, reproduce, distribute, display and store the Video in all forms, formats and media whether now known or hereafter developed (including without limitation in print, digital and electronic form) throughout the world, (b) to translate the Video into other languages, create adaptations, summaries or extracts of the Video or other Derivative Works or Collective Works based on all or any portion of the Video and exercise all of the rights set forth in (a) above in such translations, adaptations, summaries, extracts, Derivative Works or Collective Works and (c) to license others to do any or all of the above. The foregoing rights may be exercised in all media and formats, whether now known or hereafter devised, and include the right to make such modifications as are technically necessary to exercise the rights in other media and formats. For any Video to which this **Section 6** is applicable, JoVE and the Author hereby grant to the public all such rights in the Video as provided in, but subject to all limitations and requirements set forth in, the CRC License.

7. Government Employees. If the Author is a United States government employee and the Article was prepared in the course of his or her duties as a United States government

employee, as indicated in **Item 2** above, and any of the licenses or grants granted by the Author hereunder exceed the scope of the 17 U.S.C. 403, then the rights granted hereunder shall be limited to the maximum rights permitted under such statute. In such case, all provisions contained herein that are not in conflict with such statute shall remain in full force and effect, and all provisions contained herein that do so conflict shall be deemed to be amended so as to provide to JoVE the maximum rights permissible within such statute.

8. Likeness, Privacy, Personality. The Author hereby grants JoVE the right to use the Author's name, voice, likeness, picture, photograph, image, biography and performance in any way, commercial or otherwise, in connection with the Materials and the sale, promotion and distribution thereof. The Author hereby waives any and all rights he or she may have, relating to his or her appearance in the Video or otherwise relating to the Materials, under all applicable privacy, likeness, personality or similar laws.

9. Author Warranties. The Author represents and warrants that the Article is original, that it has not been published, that the copyright interest is owned by the Author (or, if more than one author is listed at the beginning of this Agreement, by such authors collectively) and has not been assigned, licensed, or otherwise transferred to any other party. The Author represents and warrants that the author(s) listed at the top of this Agreement are the only authors of the Materials. If more than one author is listed at the top of this Agreement and if any such author has not entered into a separate Article and Video License Agreement with JoVE relating to the Materials, the Author represents and warrants that the Author has been authorized by each of the other such authors to execute this Agreement on his or her behalf and to bind him or her with respect to the terms of this Agreement as if each of them had been a party hereto as an Author. The Author warrants that the use, reproduction, distribution, public or private performance or display, and/or modification of all or any portion of the Materials does not and will not violate, infringe and/or misappropriate the patent, trademark, intellectual property or other rights of any third party. The Author represents and warrants that it has and will continue to comply with all government, institutional and other regulations, including, without limitation all institutional, laboratory, hospital, ethical, human and animal treatment, privacy, and all other rules, regulations, laws, procedures or guidelines, applicable to the Materials, and that all research involving human and animal subjects has been approved by the Author's relevant institutional review board.

10. JoVE Discretion. If the Author requests the assistance of JoVE in producing the Video in the Author's facility, the Author shall ensure that the presence of JoVE employees, agents or independent contractors is in accordance with the relevant regulations of the Author's institution. If more than one author is listed at the beginning of this Agreement, JoVE may, in its sole discretion, elect not take any action with respect to the Article until such time as it has received complete, executed Article and Video License Agreements from each



## ARTICLE AND VIDEO LICENSE AGREEMENT

such author. JoVE reserves the right, in its absolute and sole discretion and without giving any reason therefore, to accept or decline any work submitted to JoVE. JoVE and its employees, agents and independent contractors shall have full, unfettered access to the facilities of the Author or of the Author's institution as necessary to make the Video, whether actually published or not. JoVE has sole discretion as to the method of making and publishing the Materials, including, without limitation, to all decisions regarding editing, lighting, filming, timing of publication, if any, length, quality, content and the like.

11. **Indemnification.** The Author agrees to indemnify JoVE and/or its successors and assigns from and against any and all claims, costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, arising out of any breach of any warranty or other representations contained herein. The Author further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless JoVE from and against any and all claims, costs, and expenses, including attorney's fees, resulting from the breach by the Author of any representation or warranty contained herein or from allegations or instances of violation of intellectual property rights, damage to the Author's or the Author's institution's facilities, fraud, libel, defamation, research, equipment, experiments, property damage, personal injury, violations of institutional, laboratory, hospital, ethical, human and animal treatment, privacy or other rules, regulations, laws, procedures or guidelines, liabilities and other losses or damages related in any way to the submission of work to JoVE, making of videos by JoVE, or publication in JoVE or elsewhere by JoVE. The Author shall be responsible for, and shall hold JoVE harmless from, damages caused by lack of sterilization, lack of cleanliness or by contamination due to the making of a video by JoVE its employees, agents or independent contractors. All sterilization, cleanliness or

decontamination procedures shall be solely the responsibility of the Author and shall be undertaken at the Author's expense. All indemnifications provided herein shall include JoVE's attorney's fees and costs related to said losses or damages. Such indemnification and holding harmless shall include such losses or damages incurred by, or in connection with, acts or omissions of JoVE, its employees, agents or independent contractors.

12. **Fees.** To cover the cost incurred for publication, JoVE must receive payment before production and publication the Materials. Payment is due in 21 days of invoice. Should the Materials not be published due to an editorial or production decision, these funds will be returned to the Author. Withdrawal by the Author of any submitted Materials after final peer review approval will result in a US\$1,200 fee to cover pre-production expenses incurred by JoVE. If payment is not received by the completion of filming, production and publication of the Materials will be suspended until payment is received.

13. **Transfer, Governing Law.** This Agreement may be assigned by JoVE and shall inure to the benefits of any of JoVE's successors and assignees. This Agreement shall be governed and construed by the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without giving effect to any conflict of law provision thereunder. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

A signed copy of this document must be sent with all new submissions. Only one Agreement required per submission.

### CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Name: CREUZET Sophie E.

Department: INSTITUT DES NEUROSCIENCES PARIS-SACLAY

Institution: CNRS UMR-9197

Article Title: Combining in ovo electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of Six1-2-4 genes in cephalic neural crest for head development

Signature:

Date: 09\_30\_2015

Please submit a signed and dated copy of this license by one of the following three methods:

- 1) Upload a scanned copy of the document as a pdf on the JoVE submission site;
- 2) Fax the document to +1.866.381.2236;
- 3) Mail the document to JoVE / Attn: JoVE Editorial / 1 Alewife Center #200 / Cambridge, MA 02139

For questions, please email [submissions@jove.com](mailto:submissions@jove.com) or call +1.617.945.9051



**Dr. Sophie Creuzet**

Neuro-PSI / Institut des Neurosciences Paris-Saclay

CNRS - UMR-9197

Equipe : *Neural Crest: Development & Evolution*

avenue de la Terrasse

91198 Gif-sur-Yvette. France

email: [sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr](mailto:sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr)

tel: 33 1 69 82 41 61

fax: 33 1 69 82 41 32

[http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil\\_09.html](http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil_09.html)

Gif-sur-Yvette, July, 10th, 2016

Jaydev Upponi

Science Editor

[JoVE](#)

One Alewife Center, Suite 200

Cambridge, MA 02140

Dear Editor,

We are sending you herewith the revised version of our manuscript entitled “Combining *in ovo* electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of *Six1*, *Six2*, *Six4* genes in cephalic neural crest for head development”.

The present article describes how we combine xenograft between avian embryos and *in ovo* electroporation for multiple gene silencing and rescue, to uncover the complementary roles exerted by *Six* genes in the cephalic neural crest cells for vertebrate encephalogenesis. Here is the ‘point by point’ list of changes addressed in the present manuscript.

Hoping the article in the present format will be suitable for publication in JoVE.

Sincerely yours,



Dr. Sophie Creuzet

Principal investigator at CNRS

Group leader *Neural Crest: Development & Evolution*

Neuro-PSI / Institut des Neurosciences Paris-Saclay

CNRS - UMR-9197 Bâtiment 32 - 33 - Avenue de la Terrasse - 91198 Gif sur Yvette Cedex

## Editorial comments:

• **NOTE: Please download this version of the Microsoft word document (File name: 54180\_R3\_050316) for any subsequent changes. Please keep in mind that some editorial changes have been made prior to peer review pro**

• Please keep the editorial comments from your previous revisions in mind as you revise your manuscript to address peer review comments. For instance, if formatting or other changes were made, commercial language was removed, etc., please maintain these overall manuscript changes.

### •Formatting:

-Please include a space between 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.

-Please include spaces between all numbers and units.

-Please use the correct formatting for the materials table, and please include company and catalog number for all items.

Commented [r1]: included

Commented [r2]: included

Commented [r3]: new section added

### •Grammar:

-Please copyedit the manuscript for numerous grammatical errors. Such editing should be performed by a native English speaker and is required prior to acceptance.

-Line 56 – “combine xenograft between”

-Line 72 – “on stage- and tissue-specific RNAi strategy”

-Line 74 – “knocked-down”

-Avoid the term “perfectly” to describe these techniques, as this is not an objective assessment.

-1.3.1 – “made up with glass”

-1.3.2 – “microscapel”

-2.1.4 – “so that as the blastoderm”

-2.2 note, 2.2.1 – “Sequences” aren’t dispersed or transferred, but nucleic acid molecules or nucleic acids are.

-2.2.5 – “blow” – do you mean “inject”? If mouth pipetting is used, this should be specified.

-2.2.11 note – What does “it” refer to?

-2.3.5 – “the heterospecific transfected”

-Line 343 – “well tractable”

-Line 349 – “negative charged”

-Line 350 – “towards cathode”

-The discussion is difficult to understand due to numerous errors.

Commented [r4]: All text was submitted to a professional reviewer of American English

### •Additional detail is required:

-Is a stereomicroscope used for any of these procedures? Please specify if so.

-1.3.1 – Please clarify “under the limit of capillarity.” How is the tip stretched?

-2.1.3 – How is a hole made in the egg?

-2.1.5 – Where is the opening made? If this is the opening referred to in 2.1.4, this detail should be found in 2.1.4.

-2.3.4 – Please clarify “Cut out transversely”.

-2.3.6 – What is “a flexible plastic pipe”? Are inhaling and blowing done by mouth?

Commented [r5]: add information (213-214)

Commented [r6]: text changed to become more obvious

Commented [r7]: added

Commented [r8]: text changed to become more obvious

Commented [r9]: text changed to become more obvious

Commented [r10]: yes, the inhaling and blowing done by mouth

Commented [r11]: SOPHIE

•Results: Please include scale bars. There are none visible. Panels M, O & Q should have their own scale bars. What staining is shown in M, O, Q?

•Discussion: Please discuss any modifications/troubleshooting that can be performed as well as the future applications of the protocol.

Commented [r12]: 2 new paragraphs have been added?

•If your figures and tables are original and not published previously, please ignore this comment. For figures and tables that have been published before, please include phrases such as “Re-print with permission from (reference#)” or “Modified from..” etc. And please send a copy of the re-print permission for JoVE’s record keeping purposes.

Commented [r13]: SOPHIE, are all originals?

•JoVE reference format requires that DOIs are included, when available, for all references listed in the article. This is helpful for readers to locate the included references and obtain more information. Please note that often DOIs are not listed with PubMed abstracts and as such, may not be properly included when citing directly from PubMed. In these cases, please manually include DOIs in reference information.

Commented [r14]: Some references are very old and do not have DOI.

•IMP: Please copyedit the entire manuscript for any grammatical errors you may find. The text should be in American-English only. This editing should be performed by a native English speaker (or professional copyediting services) and is essential for clarity of the protocol and the manuscript. Please thoroughly review the language and grammar prior to resubmission. Your JoVE editor will not copy-edit your manuscript and any errors in your submitted revision may be present in the published version.

•NOTE: Please include a line-by-line response letter to the editorial and reviewer comments along with the resubmission.

Reviewers' comments:

Reviewer #1:

Manuscript Summary:

In this paper, authors combine hetero-specific tissue grafting and electroporation in chicken embryo to evaluate the roles of six genes in head development. The idea is well conceived and the technique will be very useful in a variety of experiments using chicken embryo as a model. A clearly and vividly illustrated video procedure will be useful to many who use chicken embryo as an experimental model, and encourage young students to get interested into developmental biology.

Major Concerns:

N/A

Minor Concerns:

N/A

Additional Comments to Authors:

N/A

Commented [r15]: Ok!

Reviewer #2:

Manuscript Summary:

The manuscript well explain the need of cell labeling, and up- and down regulation of the gene of interest, and show the xenografts transplantation between quail and chick embryos, and up- and down-regulation of Six genes in the cephalic neural crest cells. By this method, the authors could show hierarchy among Hoxa2, Noggin and Six genes by single and total silencing Six1, Six2 and Six4 genes, and Noggin genes by their dsRNA. The method is very useful for the researchers who use chick embryos.

Major Concerns:

N/A

Minor Concerns:

N/A

Additional Comments to Authors:

N/A

Commented [r16]: Ok!

Reviewer #3:

Manuscript Summary:

The protocol is nicely described and may have some importance for other labs (although electroporation has been described in JOVE several times previously, but not combined with grafting).

Major Concerns:

-The section of REPRESENTATIVE RESULTS should be modified, as the 2 first paragraphs are not relevant to the described protocol and representative results, and only the last paragraph discusses the representative results. The first paragraphs are more relevant to the Introduction.

-The first parts of the current Introduction are too general and long and and may be edited to become more focused to the relevant published method.

-The Discussion should discuss the prones and cones of the current method as compared to bilateral electroporation of NCCs in an embryo without grafting the tissue to another, as in such a case the manipulated NCCs will also invade a non-electroporated head tissue. Also, in my view a unilateral electroporation will be more informative with the grafting method since the non-manipulated side of the grafted tissue can serve as an internal control for grafting effects versus electroporation effects. This should

Commented [r17]: Disagree, these paragraphs just present the most relevant results that the group obtained with this technique

Commented [r18]: I find it important to keep the text as it is. It is our writing style. We believe it is important to contextualize historically and experimentally the methodology presented.

be also discussed.

*Minor Concerns:*

1|details regarding the preparation or purchase of the triplet electrode system is needed.

*Additional Comments to Authors:*

N/A

**Commented [r19]:** Heeded suggestion  
**SOPHIE - I wish you confer to see if was not  
decontextualized**

**Commented [r20]: SOPHIE, It is marked in red in the  
text to be filled**





**Dr. Sophie Creuzet**

Neuro-PSI / Institut des Neurosciences Paris-Saclay

CNRS - UMR-9197

Equipe : *Neural Crest: Development & Evolution*

avenue de la Terrasse

91198 Gif-sur-Yvette, France

email: [sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr](mailto:sophie.creuzet@inaf.cnrs-gif.fr)

tel: 33 1 69 82 41 61

fax: 33 1 69 82 41 32

[http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil\\_09.html](http://www.inaf.cnrs-gif.fr/ned/equipe09/accueil_09.html)

Gif-sur-Yvette, July, 10th, 2016

Jaydev Upponi

Science Editor

[JoVE](#)

One Alewife Center, Suite 200

Cambridge, MA 02140

Dear Editor,


We are sending you herewith the revised version of our manuscript entitled “Combining *in ovo* electroporation and heterospecific grafting to unravel the role of *Six1*, *Six2*, *Six4* genes in cephalic neural crest for head development”.

The present article describes how we combine xenograft between avian embryos and *in ovo* electroporation for multiple gene silencing and rescue, to uncover the complementary roles exerted by *Six* genes in the cephalic neural crest cells for vertebrate encephalogenesis.

Here is the ‘point by point’ list of changes addressed in the present manuscript.

Hoping the article in the present format will be suitable for publication in JoVE.

Sincerely yours,



Dr. Sophie Creuzet

Principal investigator at CNRS

Group leader *Neural Crest: Development & Evolution*

**Editorial comments:**

Neuro-PSI / Institut des Neurosciences Paris-Saclay  
CNRS - UMR-9197 Bâtiment 32 - 33 - Avenue de la Terrasse - 91198 Gif sur Yvette Cedex

• **NOTE: Please download this version of the Microsoft word document (File name: 54180\_R3\_050316) for any subsequent changes. Please keep in mind that some editorial changes have been made prior to peer review pro**

• Please keep the editorial comments from your previous revisions in mind as you revise your manuscript to address peer review comments. For instance, if formatting or other changes were made, commercial language was removed, etc., please maintain these overall manuscript changes.

• **Formatting:**

- Please include a space between 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.
- Please include spaces between all numbers and units.
- Please use the correct formatting for the materials table, and please include company and catalog number for all items.

• **Grammar:**

- Please copyedit the manuscript for numerous grammatical errors. Such editing should be performed by a native English speaker and is required prior to acceptance.
- Line 56 – “combine xenograft between”
- Line 72 – “on stage- and tissue-specific RNAi strategy”
- Line 74 – “knocked-down”
- Avoid the term “perfectly” to describe these techniques, as this is not an objective assessment.
- 1.3.1 – “made up with glass”
- 1.3.2 – “microscapel”
- 2.1.4 – “so that as the blastoderm”
- 2.2 note, 2.2.1 – “Sequences” aren’t dispersed or transferred, but nucleic acid molecules or nucleic acids are.
- 2.2.5 – “blow” – do you mean “inject”? If mouth pipetting is used, this should be specified.
- 2.2.11 note – What does “it” refer to?
- 2.3.5 – “the heterospecific transfected”
- Line 343 – “well tractable”
- Line 349 – “negative charged”
- Line 350 – “towards cathode”
- The discussion is difficult to understand due to numerous errors.

• **Additional detail is required:**

- Is a stereomicroscope used for any of these procedures? Please specify if so.
- 1.3.1 – Please clarify “under the limit of capillarity.” How is the tip stretched?
- 2.1.3 – How is a hole made in the egg?
- 2.1.5 – Where is the opening made? If this is the opening referred to in 2.1.4, this detail should be found in 2.1.4.
- 2.3.4 – Please clarify “Cut out transversely”.
- 2.3.6 – What is “a flexible plastic pipe”? Are inhaling and blowing done by mouth?

• **Results:** Please include scale bars. There are none visible. Panels M, O & Q should have their own scale bars. What staining is shown in M, O, Q?

• **Discussion:** Please discuss any modifications/troubleshooting that can be performed as well as the future applications of the protocol.

• If your figures and tables are original and not published previously, please ignore this comment. For figures and tables that have been published before, please include phrases such as “Re-print with permission from (reference#)” or “Modified from...” etc. And please send a copy of the re-print permission for JoVE’s record keeping purposes.

• JoVE reference format requires that DOIs are included, when available, for all references listed in the article. This is helpful for readers to locate the included references and obtain more information. Please note that often DOIs are not listed with PubMed abstracts and as such, may not be properly included when citing directly from PubMed. In these cases, please manually include DOIs in reference information.

• **IMP:** Please copyedit the entire manuscript for any grammatical errors you may find. The text should be in American-English only. This editing should be performed by a native English speaker (or professional copyediting services) and is essential for clarity of the protocol and the manuscript. Please thoroughly review the language and grammar prior to resubmission. Your JoVE editor will not copy-edit your manuscript and any errors in your submitted revision may be present in the published version.

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** included

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** included

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** new section added

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** All text was submitted to a professional reviewer of American English

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** add information (213-214)

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** text changed to become more obvious

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** added

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** text changed to become more obvious

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** text changed to become more obvious

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** yes, the inhaling and blowing done by mouth

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** SOPHIE

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** 2 new paragraphs have been added?

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** SOPHIE, are all originals?

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

**Commentaire:** Some references are very old and do not have DOI.

•NOTE: Please include a line-by-line response letter to the editorial and reviewer comments along with the resubmission.

#### Reviewers' comments:

##### Reviewer #1:

###### Manuscript Summary:

In this paper, authors combine hetero-specific tissue grafting and electroporation in chicken embryo to evaluate the roles of six genes in head development. The idea is well conceived and the technique will be very useful in a variety of experiments using chicken embryo as a model. A clearly and vividly illustrated video procedure will be useful to many who use chicken embryo as an experimental model, and encourage young students to get interested into developmental biology.

###### Major Concerns:

N/A

###### Minor Concerns:

N/A

###### Additional Comments to Authors:

N/A

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

Commentaire: Ok!

##### Reviewer #2:

###### Manuscript Summary:

The manuscript well explain the need of cell labeling, and up- and down regulation of the gene of interest, and show the xenografts transplantation between quail and chick embryos, and up- and down-regulation of Six genes in the cephalic neural crest cells. By this method, the authors could show hierarchy among Hoxa2, Noggin and Six genes by single and total silencing Six1, Six2 and Six4 genes, and Noggin genes by their dsRNA. The method is very useful for the researchers who use chick embryos.

###### Major Concerns:

N/A

###### Minor Concerns:

N/A

###### Additional Comments to Authors:

N/A

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

Commentaire: Ok!

##### Reviewer #3:

###### Manuscript Summary:

The protocol is nicely described and may have some importance for other labs (although electroporation has been described in JOVE several times previously, but not combined with grafting).

###### Major Concerns:

-The section of REPRESENTATIVE RESULTS should be modified, as the 2 first paragraphs are not relevant to the described protocol and representative results, and only the last paragraph discusses the representative results. The first paragraphs are more relevant to the Introduction.

-The first parts of the current Introduction are too general and long and and may be edited to become more focused to the relevant published method.

-The Discussion should discuss the prones and cones of the current method as compared to bilateral electroporation of NCCs in an embryo without grafting the tissue to another, as in such a case the manipulated NCCs will also invade a non-electroporated head tissue. Also, in my view a unilateral electroporation will be more informative with the grafting method since the non-manipulated side of the grafted tissue can serve as an internal control for grafting effects versus electroporation effects. This should be also discussed.

###### Minor Concerns:

1 details regarding the preparation or purchase of the triplet electrode system is needed.

rcgarcez 10/7/16 23:49

Commentaire: Disagree, these paragraphs just present the most relevant results that the group obtained with this technique

rcgarcez 12/7/16 16:49

Commentaire: I find it important to keep the text as it is. It is our writing style. We believe it is important to contextualize historically and experimentally the methodology presented.

*Additional Comments to Authors:*

N/A